IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC-____

BANCO INDUSTRIAL DE VENEZUELA, C.A., MIAMI AGENCY, a foreign corporation; and BIV INVESTMENTS AND MANAGEMENT, INC., a Florida corporation, a/k/a BIV INVERSORES Y PROMOTORES,

Petitioners,

v.

ESPERANZA DE SAAD, and JOSEPH BEELER, P.A.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT L.T. CASE NO. 3D08-1713

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Third District's holding—that a corporate officer who knowingly engages in criminal conduct, and pleads guilty to a federal felony charge arising out of that conduct, can nonetheless force a corporation to pay her defense costs as a matter of law on the theory that she negotiated a plea deal to fewer than all of the charges against her—directly conflicts and is fundamentally incompatible with <u>Alternative Dev., Inc. v. St. Lucie Club & Apt. Homes Condo. Ass'n</u>, 608 So. 2d 822, 828 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). The Third District's holding adopts Delaware's indemnification law, in direct conflict with the Fourth District's ruling and contrary to Florida's indemnification law. Petitioners Banco Industrial de Venezuela, C.A., Miami Agency ("BIV-Miami Agency") and BIV Investments and Management, Inc. (collectively "BIV") thus seek certiorari review.

Esperanza de Saad was vice-president and general manager of BIV-Miami Agency when, through an undercover sting operation involving a U.S. Customs confidential informant, she allegedly facilitated the deposit of approximately \$4 million in drug proceeds into BIV accounts. She was charged with ten counts of money laundering and one count of conspiracy to launder money.¹ She was found guilty by the jury on all counts. After the trial judge granted de Saad's motion for judgment of acquittal, the United States appealed. While the appeal was pending,

¹ Respondent Joseph Beeler is one of the many counsel she retained in the criminal proceeding. She assigned her right to seek indemnification to him.

de Saad pled guilty to one count of money structuring on the condition that the government drop its appeal.² De Saad then sued BIV seeking indemnification for her defense fees in the criminal proceedings and also asserting a claim for breach of her employment contract.

The Third District affirmed the trial court's award of over \$4.5 million to Beeler and de Saad on the indemnification claim and more than \$1 million to de Saad on her breach of contract claim. It found that subsection (7) of Florida's statutory indemnification law did <u>not</u> apply, and instead looked to Delaware law to interpret Florida's indemnification statute—despite a critical difference in the two statutes: the strict prohibition in subsection (7) ³ of Florida's law does not exist in Delaware, as the Fourth District recognized in <u>Alternative Development</u>, 608 So. 2d at 828. The Third District also affirmed the trial court's finding that BIV breached the employment contract as a matter of law by suspending de Saad

² As part of her plea agreement, de Saad paid a fine of \$50,000, was sentenced to a one-year probationary period, and agreed never to seek or accept employment with any financial institution in the United States without the prior express written consent of the U.S. Attorneys' Office.

³ Subsection (7) states in relevant part that "indemnification or advancement of expenses <u>shall not be made</u> to or on behalf of any director, officer, employee, or agent <u>if a judgment or other final adjudication establishes that his or her actions</u>, or omissions to act, were material to the cause of action so adjudicated and <u>constitute</u>: (a) <u>A violation of the criminal law</u>, unless the director, officer, employee, or agent had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; [or] (b) A transaction from which the director, officer, employee, or agent derived an <u>improper personal benefit</u> . . ." Section 607.0850(7), Fla. Stat. (emphases added).

pending clarification of the charges against her and for not reinstating her before the contract expired—even though the contract expired long before her guilty plea ended the criminal proceeding and even though she was wholly unavailable to perform her job duties while in jail and on trial in California for money laundering.

This case presents a critically important question with statewide impact for all corporations doing business in Florida: Does Florida require mandatory indemnification for a corporate officer who knowingly breaks the law for personal gain and then pleads guilty to felony charges arising from that conduct? In addition, this case presents important and recurring questions of contract interpretation: Can a court decide which of two reasonable contract interpretations it likes better, resolve ambiguities, disregard the doctrine of mitigation, and ignore well-pled affirmative defenses? The answer to both questions is no, and the Third District's opinion has created direct and express conflicts on each of these points.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District misapprehended the significant differences between Delaware's and Florida's indemnification statutes. Florida's Legislature, as a matter of public policy, enacted an indemnification statute that prohibits a corporate officer from seeking indemnification if the officer knowingly violated the law or entered into a transaction for an improper personal benefit. Section 607.0850(7), Fla. Stat. There is no such similar prohibition in Delaware law. To

the contrary, Delaware's statute mandates indemnification even in cases where the Florida Legislature (as evidenced by its specific adoption of subsection (7)) has determined such an indemnification obligation would be offensive both to the public interest and the legitimate business community. The Third District disregarded Florida law, and instead imposed Delaware's indemnification law on BIV-Miami, a foreign corporation merely doing business in Florida. Ignoring Florida law to blindly follow Delaware law is not reasoned judicial decisionmaking. See Stuart R. Cohn, Dover Judicata: How Much Should Florida Courts Be Influenced By Delaware Corporate Law Decisions?, 83 Fla. Bar J. 20, 21 (Apr. 2009) ("The prominence of Delaware courts should not . . . lead to an overly submissive attitude or one that gives undue influence to Delaware decisions . . . [T]here are considerable differences between Florida and Delaware that ought to provide caution to Florida courts.").

This issue is one of critical public importance for all corporations doing business in Florida. Corporations should be able to depend on the Legislature's considered judgment that no corporation doing business in Florida should be forced to indemnify and pay for the criminal acts of a wayward corporate officer.

The Third District also created a direct and express conflict by allowing the trial court to resolve the quintessential jury question of which reasonable interpretation of de Saad's employment contract was more reasonable, simply

rejecting BIV's understanding that it could suspend her until there was clarification as to whether she engaged in wrongdoing. The Third District created additional direct and express conflicts with Florida law governing whether factual disputes (such as to who breached first) can be resolved on summary judgment, whether the doctrine of mitigation exists in Florida contract law, and whether summary judgment can be granted when a party has well-pled unresolved affirmative defenses. These issues are of great importance to all parties who contract for goods or services in Florida.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE THIRD DISTRICT'S INTERPRETATION OF FLORIDA'S INDEMNIFICATION STATUTE, WHICH IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH <u>ALTERNATIVE DEVELOPMENT, INC. V. ST. LUCIE CLUB</u> <u>& APT. HOMES CONDO. ASS'N</u>, 608 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

A. CONFLICT JURISDICTION

The conflict between the Third and Fourth District's positions is clear. The Third District "reject[ed]" the contention that subsection 7 applies to a mandatory indemnification request. Slip Op. at 7. In sharp contrast, the Fourth District, in addressing a claim for mandatory indemnification, held that "if the trial court finds under Section 607.0850(7) that the Dehons did not meet the requisite standard of conduct as it gave rise to the action, then they are not entitled to indemnification." Alternative Dev., 608 So. 2d at 828. This conflict is direct and express.

B. REASONS TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Florida's indemnification statute precludes indemnification where a cause of action is adjudicated in which the officer's actions material to that cause of action violated criminal law or amounted to a transaction providing an improper personal benefit to the officer or was outside the scope of that officer's employment. See § 607.0850(7), Fla. Stat. The Third District turned that provision on its head by "follow[ing]" the interpretation of Delaware's statutory indemnification statute that has been adopted by Delaware trial courts—which does not include the same language as the Florida statute. Slip Op. at 7. That error created a direct conflict with the Fourth District. The proper interpretation of Florida's statute is not governed by the Delaware courts' interpretation of Delaware law. Florida's indemnification statute was adopted after Delaware's. Florida did not simply adopt Delaware law. Instead, the Legislature enacted a very specific limitation on indemnification, set forth in subsection (7), that is not a part of Delaware's statute—demonstrating that Florida reached a different policy conclusion as to when indemnification should occur. As a matter of Florida law, indemnification cannot be awarded if an officer's acts material to a judgment or final adjudication violated criminal law or provided an improper personal benefit.

Florida is unique in precluding indemnification under these circumstances. The Fourth District—unlike the Third District—has embraced Florida's legislative

choice on the circumstances in which indemnification is prohibited. In <u>Alternative</u> <u>Development</u>, the Fourth District directly held that mandatory indemnification is specifically limited by the preclusive language in Section 607.0850(7). 608 So. 2d at 828. <u>See also Colonial Guild Ltd. v. Pruitt</u>, No. 03CA008319, 2004 WL 627921, at *2 (Ohio Ct. App. 9 Dist. Mar. 31, 2004) (same). BIV consistently cited this case as legal authority, and no one—not the Third District, not de Saad, and not Beeler—offered any meaningful distinction.

De Saad could not overcome the express prohibition of Section 607.0850(7), Fla. Stat. Indeed, as part of her plea deal, she admitted she violated federal law by illegally accepting \$20,000 in checks—a clear improper personal benefit. Thus, the trial court's grant of summary judgment to her, and the Third District's affirmance, was in error. Given the conflict the Third District has created by holding such a wayward corporate officer must be indemnified, review is warranted.

The Third District also ignored disputed facts as to whether de Saad even met the threshold requirements for mandatory statutory indemnification of being "successful on the merits or otherwise" in the criminal proceeding and being charged "by reason of the fact" she was a corporate officer. §§ 607.0850(1), (3), Fla. Stat. The criminal proceeding against her ended with a guilty plea. Expert Marcos Jiménez, former U.S. Attorney for the S.D. Fla. and prominent white collar

criminal defense attorney, opined that de Saad was *not* "successful on the merits," because in his expert opinion, "the United States prevailed in its case against de Saad." App. 30 at ¶¶ 5, 11.⁴ The Third District ignored that expert testimony, just as it ignored similar expert testimony of Robert Serino, a 29-year veteran of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. App. 38 at ¶¶ 2-4, 7.

The Third District's opinion is wrong on the law and fundamentally unfair to corporations in Florida, which now must indemnify corporate officers who knowingly break the law for personal benefit—so long as they accept a plea deal.

II. THE COURT SHOULD EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE THIRD DISTRICT'S BREACH OF CONTRACT RULING, WHICH IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH FECTEAU V. S.E. BANK, N.A., 585 So. 2d 1005 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); LANGFORD v. PARAVANT, INC., 912 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005); FABEL v. MASTERSON, 951 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); MARSHALL CONST., LTD. v. COASTAL SHEET METAL & ROOFING, INC., 569 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); THOMAS v. WESTERN WORLD INS. CO., 343 So. 2d 1298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); HOSPITAL CORRESPONDENCE CORP. v. MCRAE, 682 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) and FASANO v. HICKS, 667 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

A. CONFLICT JURISDICTION

The numerous direct and express conflicts in the Third District's breach of

contract ruling are set forth in detail below.

B. REASONS TO EXERCISE DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

The Third District affirmed the trial court's decision resolving—on summary

⁴ "App." refers to the appendix filed with BIV's initial Third District brief.

judgment—a clear issue of factual dispute over the competing reasonable interpretations of de Saad's employment contract and the BIV personnel manual incorporated therein: Did BIV's contractual right to suspend de Saad pending clarification of the charges mean that it could suspend her until the charges against her were resolved? The Third District said no. Slip Op. at 8. But as the Fourth District recognizes, "[w]hen there are two reasonable [contractual] interpretations, summary judgment is inappropriate because there is a genuine issue of material fact." Fecteau v. S.E. Bank, N.A., 585 So. 2d 1005, 1007 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).⁵

At a minimum, ambiguity existed as to when the "clarification" occurred, creating a further fact issue as to the starting point for assessing damages. By permitting resolution of these issues on summary judgment, the Third District created a direct and express conflict with Langford v. Paravant, Inc., 912 So. 2d 359, 360-361 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) ("[W]hen the content of an agreement is ambiguous and the parties present different interpretations, the issue of proper interpretation becomes one of fact, precluding summary judgment.").

The Third District's decision also directly and expressly conflicts with <u>Fabel</u> v. Masterson, 951 So. 2d 934, 936 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) and Marshall Const., Ltd.

⁵ The reasonableness of BIV's interpretation is confirmed by the personnel manual, incorporated into the employment contract, which refers to "<u>conclusive</u> evidence of dishonesty or involvement in a misdemeanor or felony." App. 27 at 32 (emphasis added). Here, the final, conclusive evidence was not available to BIV until de Saad's guilty plea—which was long after the contract had expired.

<u>v. Coastal Sheet Metal & Roofing, Inc.</u>, 569 So. 2d 845, 848 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), because it permits summary judgment to be awarded without determining whether de Saad breached the contract first—because she could not perform her job obligations from jail and while defending herself in the criminal action in California, and because of her contractual obligation to abide by bank policies and federal law. As <u>Fabel</u> and <u>Marshall</u> make plain, if de Saad breached first, BIV had no duty to perform under the contract. The Third District's opinion is in direct and express conflict with these decisions of other district courts, and warrants review.⁶

CONCLUSION

The Florida Legislature made a policy choice that corporate officers who knowingly break the law and act for personal gain are not entitled to indemnification. The Third District has undermined that legislative policy choice in conflict with the Fourth District. This Court should grant review, resolve the conflict, and quash the decision below. It should also restore black-letter contract principles to the Third District's breach of contract jurisprudence.

⁶ The Third District also failed to require de Saad to mitigate her damages, creating yet another conflict with the Second District by gutting the doctrine of mitigation. <u>See Thomas v. Western World Ins. Co.</u>, 343 So. 2d 1298, 1303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977) ("[I]t is black-letter contract law that a party suffering a breach is obligated to take all reasonable means to protect himself and mitigate his damages."). And it left standing the trial court's legal error in granting summary judgment while affirmative defenses were pending—in direct and express conflict with <u>Hospital</u> <u>Correspondence Corp. v. McRae</u>, 682 So. 2d 1177, 1182 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) and <u>Fasano v. Hicks</u>, 667 So. 2d 1033, 1034 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).