IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-21

BANCO INDUSTRIAL DE VENEZUELA, C.A., MIAMI AGENCY, a foreign corporation; and BIV INVESTMENTS AND MANAGEMENT, INC., a Florida corporation a/k/a BIV INVERSORES Y PROMOTORES,

Petitioners,

VS.

ESPERANZA DE SAAD and JOSEPH BEELER, P.A.,

Respondents,

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT L.T. CASE NO. 3D08-1713

01-13868

RESPONDENT ESPERANZA DE SAAD'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

William L. Petros, Esq. Petros & Elegant 4090 Laguna Street, 2nd Floor Coral Gables, Florida 33146

Telephone: (305) 446-3699

Facsimile: (305) 446-2799

Hicks, Porter, Ebenfeld & Stein, P.A. 799 Brickell Plaza, Suite 900

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The bank's brief includes "facts" not contained in the decision below, and grossly misstates the Third District's holding. For example, BIV misrepresents that the district court's holding will require it to indemnify de Saad for a count of money structuring to which she ultimately pled guilty. (Br., pp. 1, 3, 4, 6-7). As the Third District's decision demonstrates, this separate charge occurred seven months after de Saad's acquittal of the eleven counts that are the subject of this indemnification action. She has never sought indemnification for the unrelated subsequent charge. The Third District's decision requires only that BIV indemnify de Saad for her successful defense of the money laundering and conspiracy charges that resulted in an acquittal as a matter of law.

Although BIV characterizes this case as being one of critical importance to all corporations doing business in Florida, it actually involved a clear-cut application of Florida's corporate indemnification statute, section 607.0850, Florida Statutes, to a discrete set of facts. The decision below explains the pertinent facts:

1

¹ The opinion below is attached as Appendix 1 ("A:1") to this brief.

De Saad is the former vice-president and general manager of Banco's Miami agency, BIV. As part of an undercover sting operation involving a U.S. Customs confidential informant, de Saad was alleged to have facilitated the deposit of approximately \$4 million in drug proceeds into BIV accounts. . . . [T]he United States charged de Saad with ten counts of money laundering and one count of conspiracy to launder money while acting in her capacity as the vice-president of BIV. . . . After a lengthy trial in which the jury found her guilty on all counts, the trial judge granted de Saad's motion for judgment of acquittal as to all counts finding that the United States had failed to prove all of the necessary elements of the alleged crimes. The United States filed an appeal of the trial court's acquittal. Seven months after her acquittal, de Saad was charged and pled guilty to one count of money structuring on the condition that the government drop the appeal of the judgment of acquittal on the money laundering and conspiracy charges. The government dropped the appeal. De Saad then sought from BIV her past wages pursuant to her contract of employment and also sought indemnification for attorney's fees incurred in her defense of the money laundering and conspiracy charges. BIV denied both claims.

(A:1 at pp. 2-3).² On the indemnification issue, the circuit court and Third District correctly determined that de Saad's judgment of acquittal of all eleven counts in the criminal proceeding was "success[] on the merits or otherwise" and that she was prosecuted "by reason of the fact" that she was a "director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation" as those terms were used in subsections (1) and (3). Therefore, de Saad is entitled to mandatory indemnification for these counts.

In a footnote, the Third District rejected Petitioners' contention below that, because de Saad later pled guilty to the separate money structuring charge,

² All emphasis by underline herein is supplied unless otherwise noted.

subsection (7)³ of the statute should apply to bar indemnification. (A:1, p. 7, n.4). In reaching this determination, the district court did not follow Delaware indemnification law, as Petitioners repeatedly contend.⁴ To the contrary, the court interpreted the plain statutory language of section 607.0850, and determined that subsection (7) does not apply to claims for mandatory indemnification under

- (7) The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided pursuant to this section are not exclusive, and a corporation may make any other or further indemnification or advancement of expenses of any of its directors, officers, employees, or agents, under any bylaw, agreement, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in his or her official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office. However, indemnification or advancement of expenses shall not be made to or on behalf of any director, officer, employee, or agent if a judgment or other final adjudication establishes that his or her actions, or omissions to act, were material to the cause of action so adjudicated and constitute:
- (a) A violation of the criminal law, unless the director, officer, employee, or agent had reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was lawful or had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful; [or]

* * *

(d) Willful misconduct or a conscious disregard for the best interests of the corporation in a proceeding by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor or in a proceeding by or in the right of a shareholder.

³ BIV's brief omits key language when quoting from subsection (7). The provision provides, in pertinent part:

⁴ Curiously, BIV acknowledges that there is no analog to subsection (7) in the Delaware statute, yet claims that the district court adopted Delaware law in concluding this provision did not apply. (Br., pp. 1-2, 6). A plain reading of the court's footnote demonstrates that it reached this conclusion by interpreting the statutory language itself, and not Delaware law. (A:1 at p. 7, n.4).

subsections (1) and (3).

On the breach of contract issue, the Third District correctly interpreted the unambiguous employment contract between de Saad and BIV and determined that BIV was the sole breaching party. (A:1 at pp. 7-9).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict between the decision below or any Florida appellate decision. Accordingly, there is no basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, and the petition should be dismissed.

ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict between the decision below or any Florida appellate decision, and thus no basis for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.⁵ BIV grasps at straws by claiming express and direct conflict with the corporate indemnification statute and at least eight different decisions on four different points of law.⁶ None of the alleged bases satisfy the

⁵ A petitioner must demonstrate express and direct conflict "with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. "Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." *Reaves v. State*, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Inherent or implied conflict cannot serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction. *Dep't of Health & Rehab. Servs. v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Serv., Inc.*, 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986).

⁶ BIV's petition demonstrates that it merely seeks another bite at the apple. In fact, the bank has reiterated almost every argument raised on appeal below under the guise of "express and direct conflict."

constitutional requirement of express and direct conflict.

A. There is No Conflict with Section 607.0850, Fla. Stat., or Alternative Development, Inc. v. St. Lucie Club & Apt. Homes Condominium Ass'n, 608 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

There is no conflict between the Third District's decision and the plain language of section 607.0850, Florida Statutes, or the Fourth District's decision in *Alternative Development*. The Third District correctly applied subsections (1) and (3), and held that de Saad's complete acquittal was "success[] on the merits or otherwise," for which she was entitled to mandatory indemnification. The district court also correctly held under the plain statutory language that "the proscription against indemnification in subsection (7) applies to voluntary indemnification by the corporation separate and apart from the mandatory indemnification required by subsections (1) and (3)." (A:1 at p. 7, n.4). The district court cited to *Alternative Development* as distinguishable authority. (A:1 at p. 7, n.4).

The plain language of the statute demonstrates that subsection (7) does not apply to claims for mandatory indemnification under subsections (1) and (3). Subsection (7) only applies where a corporation is <u>voluntarily</u> seeking to indemnify its officer. Subsection (7) does not apply to the case at bar, where the corporation has not provided "other or further" indemnification through "bylaw, agreement, vote of shareholders" or otherwise.⁷ Thus, there is no conflict between the

⁷ The purpose of subsection (7) is simple -- it allows a corporation to provide

decision below and section 607.0850, Florida Statutes.

Nor is there any conflict between the Third District's decision and the Fourth District's Alternative Development decision. In Alternative Development, officers of a condominium association were seeking indemnification as the prevailing parties on counts of breach of fiduciary duty and fraud in a suit filed by the association and its shareholders. 608 So. 2d at 827. Florida law has recognized that, when an officer is sued not by a third party but by his or her own corporation, it is especially important for the court to scrutinize the request for indemnification because the corporation faces the possibility of having to pay the legal fees of the very individuals sued. See Turkey Creek Masters Owners Ass'n v. Hope, 706 So. 2d 1245, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) ("In this situation, the corporation faces the possibility of being required to pay the legal fees and expenses of the very party it is suing, and it is therefore especially important to determine whether the circumstances justify a finding that the agent is reasonably entitled to indemnification for attorney's fees.").

Unlike *Alternative Development*, the underlying action here was not between BIV and de Saad, but between the federal government and de Saad. As the Third

indemnification to its officers in addition to that provided by the statute, but prevents the corporation (or unscrupulous corporate officers) from creating agreements that would indemnify, for example, conduct that the officer knows is in violation of the law, or conduct that amounts to willful misconduct or conscious

disregard for the best interests of the corporation.

6

District implicitly recognized in distinguishing *Alternative Development*, that case involved policy considerations that are not present here. Accordingly, the Third District correctly concluded twice that the two cases were factually distinguishable, which itself renders review on the ground of conflict inapplicable. *See Wilson v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 327 So. 2d 220, 220-21 (Fla. 1976) (review on the ground of conflict does not apply where the cases claimed to be in conflict are distinguishable on their facts, or on the rule of law as applied to those facts).

Additionally, a recent Fourth District decision has clarified Florida corporate indemnification law and *Alternative Development* on other grounds. In *Wendt v. La Costa Beach Resort Condominum Association, Inc.*, 14 So. 3d 1179 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009), the district court held that a claim for indemnity under section 607.0850 is unavailable in the context of a lawsuit between a corporation and its

⁸ BIV also cites to *Colonial Guild Ltd. v. Pruitt*, 2004 WL 627921 (Ohio Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2004), an Ohio appellate court decision, with which there can be no conflict jurisdiction. *See* art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. In any event, *Pruitt* involved a corporate officer who <u>unsuccessfully</u> defended himself in an underlying Florida action against a claim of breach of fiduciary duty, and who sought indemnification from the corporation pursuant to <u>an indemnification agreement</u>. *Id.* at *2. The court properly applied subsection (7) in that case, since the corporation provided for "other or further" indemnification of its corporate officers by agreement, and correctly concluded the officer could not be indemnified for his defense costs in a lawsuit in which a jury found him <u>guilty</u> of breaching his fiduciary duty to the corporation. *Id.* at *2-*3.

⁹ On January 21, 2010, the Third District issued an opinion denying BIV's motion to stay mandate and stated that it had again reviewed the decisions that BIV claims conflict with, including *Alternative Development*, and "[u]pon review of those decisions we, again, do not find conflict." The opinion is attached as Appendix 2 to this brief.

own directors for breach of fiduciary duty. Without mentioning its prior Alternative Development decision, the Fourth District explained that such an action is not one for indemnity by definition because it does not involve a claim that the officer either (1) discharged a duty that should have been discharged by the corporation, or (2) has been held vicariously liable to a third party and is seeking recovery from the corporation whose action caused the damage. See id. at 1181-82. The Fourth District certified conflict with the First District decision in Turkey Creek, which held that the statute "also provides for indemnification in a case . . . where a corporation has sued its own agent." Wendt, 14 So. 3d at 1182.

Wendt demonstrates that Alternative Development is probably no longer good law, since the Fourth District has clarified that under the facts of Alternative Development, section 607.0850 does not apply at all. Thus, to the extent there is any conflict between the Third District's decision below and the Fourth District's decision in Alternative Development, that conflict is resolved by looking to Wendt.

Finally, while this Court ultimately may be called upon to resolve the certified conflict between *Wendt* and *Turkey Creek* as to whether section 607.0850 applies in a case where a corporation has sued its own agent, that issue has no bearing on this case, as de Saad was not sued by BIV.

Accordingly, there is no express and direct conflict and this Court should

decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. 10

B. There is No Conflict with Fecteau v. S.E. Bank, N.A., 585 So. 2d 1005 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Langford v. Paravant, Inc., 912 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005); Fabel v. Masterson, 951 So. 2d 934 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); Marshall Const., Ltd. v. Coastal Sheet Metal Roofing, Inc., 569 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Thomas v. Western World Ins. Co., 343 So. 2d 1298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); Hosp. Correspondence Corp. v. McRae, 682 So. 2d 1177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996); and Fasano v. Hicks, 667 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

There is also no conflict between the Third District's decision and the decisions cited by the bank on the breach of contract claim. *Fecteau* and *Langford* hold that when a contract is <u>ambiguous</u>, and the parties present two reasonable interpretations of the contractual language, summary judgment is inappropriate. *Fecteau*, 585 So. 2d at 1007; *Langford*, 912 So. 2d at 360-61. Here, the Third District held that the contract and personnel manual unambiguously permitted the bank to suspend de Saad only pending "clarification" of the charges. (A:1, pp. 7-8). Although BIV continues to argue that the term "clarification" can equate to

_

Petitioners inappropriately rely on affidavits filed by their expert witnesses below and claim these affidavits provided disputed factual issues as to whether de Saad was "successful on the merits or otherwise" and was charged "by reason of the fact" that she was a corporate officer. The district court did not address this meritless argument below. "Conflict between decisions . . . must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 & n.3 (Fla. 1986). In any event, BIV does not allege that there is express and direct conflict on this ground and there is none. Florida law is clear that affidavits that are not based on personal knowledge and contain nothing more than conclusions of law are inadmissible on summary judgment. See, e.g., Buzzi v. Quality Serv. Station, Inc., 921 So. 2d 14, 15 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006).

"resolution or disposition," the Third District properly analyzed the plain meaning of that term and determined that BIV's interpretation was not reasonable. (A:1, pp. 7-8). There is no conflict with *Fecteau* or *Langford*, as one party's <u>unreasonable</u> interpretation of an unambiguous contract will not preclude summary judgment.

BIV next claims conflict with *Fabel*, 951 So. 2d at 934, and *Marshall*, 569 So. 2d at 845, asserting that the Third District failed to determine whether de Saad breached the contract first. There is no conflict, as the Third District interpreted the unambiguous employment contract and clearly determined that BIV was the sole breaching party. ¹¹ (A:1, pp. 7-9).

Accordingly, BIV has also failed to demonstrate any conflict on this basis, and the petition should be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, as the Petitioners have wholly failed to demonstrate express and direct conflict as required by Art. V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. The Petition should be dismissed.

_

¹¹ Petitioners also inappropriately claim conflict with *Thomas*, 343 So. 2d at 1303; *McRae*, 682 So. 2d at 1182; and *Fasano*, 667 So. 2d at 1034, asserting that the court failed to address their arguments on mitigation of damages and the remaining affirmative defenses. Again, "[c]onflict . . . must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." *See Reaves*, 485 So. 2d at 830 & n.3. The Third District did not address these meritless arguments below, and thus they are not a basis for this Court to exercise conflict jurisdiction. *See id*.